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Africa Finance Corporation

Introduction

ear Shareholders, it gives me great pleasure to present you with this Annual Report and the 

Financial Statements of the Africa Finance Corporation, particularly after a challenging third Dyear of operations for the Corporation. During a year of significant political turmoil and 

macroeconomic uncertainty in some of the major African markets where AFC operates, I am happy to 

report that the institution continued to evolve and make progress. In particular, the growth in scope of 

services and geographical regions covered by the Corporation has been notable, as well as the trail-

blazing nature of some of the investments that were made during the year. It is also gratifying to note the 

positive strides in the area of institutional development that AFC achieved in 2010. African infrastructure 

continues to be a challenging arena for private sector participation, but 2010 certainly marked the 

arrival of a new force to be reckoned with in the years to come. I am confident that the pioneering efforts 

of the Africa Finance Corporation will yield substantial financial and developmental returns over the next 

five years.   

2010 Economic and Market Review

Despite continued macroeconomic recovery from the financial crisis, the year 2010 was a very 

challenging one for the markets within which AFC operates. Across Africa, average GDP growth rates 

ranged from 3.3% (middle-income countries), to 6.0% in low-income countries and 7.0% among oil 

exporters, according to IMF data. However, much of this growth occurred within the context of continued 

volatility in global financial markets (with monetary crises across much of Europe), and, political 

uncertainty in key regional markets like Nigeria and Cote d'Ivoire. Given the plethora of elections 

scheduled to be held across Africa early in 2011, 2010 was notable for a heightened government focus 

on political rather than economic development activity. International financial flows and local political 

and regulatory stability are two of the most important factors that drive transaction volumes in AFC's core 

focus sectors, the Corporation has thus had to strive to identify, structure and close the best quality deals 

despite this adverse climate. In our host country Nigeria, concerted financial system policy and 

regulatory intervention resulted in an environment of significant money market liquidity, low deposit rates 
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and immense bond market volatility during 2010. Globally, extremely low interest rates and markets 

awash with liquidity persisted, exacerbated by renewed quantitative easing in the United States for most 

of 2010. 

Each of these factors had a negative impact on the AFC treasury and investment portfolio and its overall 

financial results. The Corporation responded to these challenges by expanding the scope of its 

origination and business development initiatives, particularly focusing on technical and financial 

advisory work to assist our public and private sector clients. While the financial performance in 2010 is 

indicative of the challenges faced during the year, a great deal of success has subsequently been 

recorded, translating into results and revenues to be recognised in 2011. Overall however, 2010 was 

notable for the improvement in breadth of AFC's coverage across Africa, and the landmark nature of 

investments closed during the year. Of particular note is the US$90m wind power project in Cape Verde, 

where AFC is a significant shareholder, and which has been recognized with awards for its innovative use 

of renewable energy resources. The 26MW project (now nearing completion) is of strategic importance 

to the government of Cape Verde.  The wind farm will make substantial savings in energy costs each year 

and make a significant contribution towards achievement of the government of Cape Verde's policy 

objective of ensuring that 25% of its national power requirements, are provided from renewable sources 

by 2012.  Additionally, the wind farm will generate carbon credit revenues under the 'Clean 

Development Mechanism' initiative, and provide direct and indirect employment and capacity 

development for Cape Verdeans.  The project is illustrative of the kind of value that AFC is able to bring 

to infrastructure. It was recognised as arguably the first commercial scale PPP wind farm in Sub-Saharan 

Africa during the year.

Financial Health 

The Corporation continued with its tradition of financial stability and prudent risk management, 

evidenced by a buoyant equity position and increasingly diversified investment portfolio. AFC continues 

to see the preservation of a strong balance sheet, as critical to its strategic goal of becoming the leading 

African financier of infrastructure on the continent by 2015. As at the end of 2010, the Corporation had 

approximately US$1.2bn in total assets, largely financed by shareholders equity (which has grown by 

US$44m through the retention of profits since inception). During 2010, a greater proportion of the 

Corporation assets began to be placed in core infrastructure investments, creating the basis for higher 

yields and valuation appreciation in the years to come. The expansion of the impact of our balance sheet 

remains a carefully pursued objective and this is being achieved both through third-party financing 

embedded in our projects and external financing being raised by the Corporation. In that area, progress 

continued to be made during the year towards strengthening many of the crucial building blocks that the 

institution requires to credibly raise external financing; including operational policies and procedures, 

corporate governance frameworks and risk management systems. A number of external financing 

proposals have also been presented to the Board of Directors for consideration, and these funds will be 

important to meeting the Corporation's financing requirements in the near future.   
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Portfolio Review

Over the three years since the Corporation's first investment approval in November 2008, AFC has been 

actively involved in originating, structuring and executing a large volume of projects and transactions 

across the African infrastructure space. As at the end of 2010, the Corporation had received internal 

approvals for more than US$595m in investments, across 17 projects and transactions in all five focus 

sectors currently covered. Of this amount, commitments and disbursements stood at 49.7% (US$296m) 

and 38.8% (US$230m) of approvals respectively, reflecting a conversion rate for projects within the first 

1-2 years of approvals that has been relatively strong, and above the average rate for the typically long 

gestation timeframes for infrastructure projects in Africa. 

As at the end of 2010, a total of 111 distinct projects and transactions representing a potential 

investment of approximately US$1.5billion had been reviewed over this three year period; across 

geographies, with heavy focus on Nigeria and West Africa (67 and 32 deals, respectively), but also in 

East, Central and Southern Africa (12 projects). The Corporation is now active across asset classes, with 

US$385m in debt approvals, and US$181m in equity investment approvals as at the end of 2010. Of 

this volume of internal approvals, US$168m of debt and US$128m of equity had been committed and 

US$123m in debt and US$107m in equity had been disbursed. Commitments were skewed towards 

Nigeria (US$126m) and West Africa (US$102m), but AFC is also active in East and Southern Africa, with 

a total of US$68m in investment commitments. 

Projects were reviewed across the Corporation's focus sectors: Heavy Industry (14 deals reviewed and 

US$111m approved), Oil & Gas (27 deals reviewed and  US$153m approved), Power (23 deals 

reviewed and  US$50m approved), Telecoms (13 deals reviewed and US$57m approved), Transport 

(24 deals reviewed and US$100m approved) and Others (10 deals reviewed and US$96m approved), 

at an average rate of approximately 34 projects reviewed per annum.  In 2010 the Corporation 

generated its highest levels of deal activity since inception, with nearly 40 projects reviewed and 6 

obtaining Board approval. 

Operations Review

Despite the challenges of 2010, the Corporation made progress on various fronts during the year, not 

only in terms of projects, investments and client expansion; but also in the important areas of institutional 

strengthening, market credibility and coverage expansion. In West Africa for example, following active 

business involvement by AFC as a lender, trade financier and an investor; the Parliament of Ghana 

approved in November 2010, the country's accession to membership of the Corporation, with a 

US$50m investment commitment. While a violent political crisis stalled the emergence of Cote d'Ivoire 

as a strong West African regional opportunity, AFC remained a keen observer of opportunities in the 

country. Due diligence is on-going by the regional Banque Centrale des États de l'Afrique de l'Ouest - 

Central Bank of West African States (BCEAO), at the request of the Council of Ministers of the Union 

Économique et Monétaire Ouest-Africaine (UEMOA) member states, regarding membership of the 

Corporation. AFC continued to cover other West Africa countries (members and non-members alike) 

including Liberia, Sierra Leone, Guinea, Gambia, and Senegal. 
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In Central Africa, AFC evaluated potential projects in Gabon, Equatorial Guinea and Congo-

Brazzaville. In the rest of Africa outside of West Africa, AFC began to selectively expand its business 

coverage, utilizing strong partnerships. For example, the Corporation successfully maintained a trade 

finance portfolio that included deals in Zambia and Malawi. AFC also concluded a senior loan 

investment in Kenya, was close to finalizing details of a major sub-debt investment in Ethiopia, having 

successfully closed on our landmark renewable energy investment in Cape Verde. AFC also successfully 

completed its first Private Finance Initiative (PFI) deal in South Africa, in a transaction that is expected to 

provide substantial capacity development benefits in addition to financial returns. 

In our host country Nigeria, market conditions during the year were very challenging. As mentioned 

above, a significant decline in interest rates across the market (in response to concerted monetary policy 

action) heightened competition for higher quality risk assets in 2010, even as political uncertainty and 

wider business climate weaknesses hindered investor and lender risk appetite. Nonetheless, AFC was 

actively engaged, especially in the most critical areas of weakness: power supply and transport 

infrastructure, where the Corporation was mandated to act as Technical Adviser to the Central Bank of 

Nigeria on its N300bn (US$2.0bn) Power and Aviation Intervention Fund (PAIF). In 2010, AFC also 

achieved a complete resolution of its legal status in Nigeria with appropriate documentation now in 

place, including the AFC Diplomatic Order and Instruments of Ratification signed by the President of the 

Federal Republic of Nigeria. The previously escrowed CBN investment in the Corporation was also duly 

released. Overall, in 2010, AFC made good progress with establishing itself across Africa as an 

institution to be reckoned with in its coverage areas. Our specialised expertise across key sectors (Power, 

Transport, Telecoms and Oil & Gas) is being recognised in the market, translating to a greater flow of 

mandates from major clients. Finally, most of our existing investments continued to make good progress, 

coming closer to achieving the Corporation's developmental and financial objectives.

People

A great deal of thanks for these accomplishments in 2010 go to our team of professionals, whose 

passion for making private sector solutions work in infrastructure projects across Africa is laudable. A 

number of new professionals joined the staff of the Corporation during 2010, in preparation for the 

growth in business volumes expected over the next few years. In line with the plan for the year, new 

additions focused on strengthening business development, risk management and transaction 

processing capabilities, allowing greater capacity to originate and execute a greater volume of deals 

through the AFC project pipeline. To manage spikes in business volumes, the Corporation utilizes short-

to-medium term consultants, in order to meet client obligations while keeping headcount costs under 

control. Overall, with minimal attrition during the year, staff strength remains at 59 individuals, including 

investment professionals and business support personnel. A great deal of progress continues to be made 

in the People Management area, with on-going implementation of a performance management system 

that aligns individual efforts with corporate objectives, and ensures appropriate rewards and 

consequences. The Board ultimately determines the overall strategic direction of the Corporation, 

ensuring shareholder capital is protected while advancing the developmental objectives of the institution. 
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Corporate Governance

AFC continued with its tradition of diligent corporate governance in 2010. Regular meetings were held 

during the year by the Board of Directors (4 times), the Board Risk and Investment Committee (4 times), 

the Board Nominations and Governance Committee (4 times) and the Board Audit and Compliance 

Committee (3 times). The Board Risk and Investment Committee and the Board Audit and Compliance 

Committee also held a joint meeting to review the 5-Year Business Plan. These meetings enabled prompt 

information transfer and feedback between management and the Board, while ensuring adequate 

oversight of day-to-day operations at the Corporation. In all instances during 2010, investment 

approval limits were fully adhered to, corporate and investment strategies, business plans as well as 

operating budgets were duly approved, senior management appointments duly ratified, and 

information on major corporate developments was regularly transmitted. The Board of Directors of the 

Corporation was active during the year, supported by its various sub-committees, and remained 

committed to positively impact the delivery of crucially needed infrastructure to the Continent, and to 

build an international standard institution that Africans the world over will be proud of. 

Financial Performance

Owing to the challenging market environment described above, the Corporation finished 2010 with a 

much weaker, albeit still profitable financial performance, relative to the 2009 financial year. Gross 

operating income recorded in the year ending December 2010 was only 43.9% of that recorded in the 

previous 12 month period (from US$80.5m to US$35.3m). Net profits were down to no more than 

37.9% of those achieved in the previous year (to US$10.9m, from US$28.7m in December 2009), 

reflecting a conservative approach to impairment charges, despite declining administrative expenses. 

Continuing on the positive trend from 2009 was the increase in non-interest income (from fees and 

commission), reflecting growth in earnings from core investment activities. As the business of the 

Corporation continues to expand, further growth is expected to come from fees earned on advisory 

mandates and valuation appreciation in underlying portfolio investments. Consistent with our 

commitment to set the standard on quality financial disclosure by African-owned and managed 

institutions, the Corporation reported its accounts under the International Financial Reporting Standard 

(IFRS), ensuring the highest level of scrutiny, disclosure and accuracy in our reported numbers. 

Strategic Outlook

During 2010, the Board approved a new 5-year Business Plan for the Corporation that is expected to 

take AFC to our desired objective of being the leading African institution active in infrastructure financing 

across the continent, by 2015. Under the oversight of the Board, Management is now implementing this 

plan which is expected to transform the Corporation from an early-stage institution into a viable market 

leader. The plan is a wide-ranging one which anticipates strong growth in each of our underlying focus 

sectors, and positions AFC to support the leading institutions, entrepreneurs and agencies driving the 

future of African infrastructure. In 2010, the Corporation began to expand its origination efforts 

significantly and has seen results in the throughput of deals through the AFC system over the last 12 

months. Going forward, the strategic focus remains on accelerating origination efforts and building on 

credibility gained with market participants over the last year, in line with our new 5-Year Business Plan. 
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Overall, Management's objective is to continuously showcase our capabilities and project successes, 

provide insights into new opportunities and potential projects, win new business from clients and secure 

prudent investments for our portfolio. Risk management and execution excellence are also high on the 

agenda, as we seek to build a leading African institution, based on world-class business practices. 

Conclusion

Recent political and financial crises (not just in Africa and the Middle-East, but also parts of Europe) 

remind us again of the importance of steady economic growth and inclusive wealth creation to the 

political stability of any nation. For Africa, the infrastructure deficit remains the most significant 

impediment to sustained growth. The requirement for investment flows into infrastructure in Africa 

remains as urgent as ever. While this fact has increasingly become accepted by policy makers and 

business leaders, the realities on the ground are still that regulatory and business climate challenges limit 

the desired flow of capital into infrastructure development. Private capital in particular requires a high 

level of government support and cooperation to successfully overcome the barriers to investment in 

African infrastructure. Countries where this environment is carefully and proactively nurtured will benefit 

the most in the near-term. AFC is actively involved, not only as an investor, but also as an adviser to 

policymakers and public sector agencies seeking to create the enabling environment for private flows 

into infrastructure. The Corporation is uniquely positioned to significantly contribute towards creating 

assets, and then benefitting from, the long-term future of this sector. As investors in this pioneering 

venture, we have the opportunity to reap the value that these efforts will yield. A determined focus on 

nurturing a world-class institution, while meeting the inevitable business challenges that arise will result 

in long-term financial returns for shareholders, in addition to furthering our ambitions of contributing to 

the economic development of the continent.

I thank you all for your continued support of the Africa Finance Corporation.

Adebayo Ogunlesi

Chairman
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Statement of Financial Position
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Statement of Cash Flows

Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and similar income received 38,149 67,937

Fee and commission receipts 5,685 5,434

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (17,714) (18,495)

Other assets 2,381 (879)

Deposits with central and other commercial banks 471,687 (8,760)

Loans and advances to banks 66,350 200,650

Loans and advances to customers (89,362) (10,000)

Other liabilities 709 (507)

Net cash from operating activities 477,885 235,380

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investment securities 16 (30,815) (91,724)

Investment awaiting capitalisation 17 84 37,833

Disposal of property and equipment - 92

Purchase of property and equipment 18 (417) (605)

Purchase of software/Intangibles 19 (802) (923)

Net cash from investment activities (31,949) (55,327)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 445,936 180,053

Cash at the beginning of the year 453,423 300,058

Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents - (26,688)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 26 899,358 453,423

*The accompanying notes 1-28 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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EXECUTING
OUR MANDATE

BUILDING
THE NEW
AFRICA



FC is a supranational financial organisation established in May 2007 as an African-led financial 

institution with the mission to improve African economies by proactively acquiring, financing and Amanaging infrastructure, industrial and financial assets. The Corporation's authorized capital is 

US$2.0 billion and has mobilised over US$1.0 billion of paid-up capital from private and public African 

institutions.

AFC is committed to strong corporate governance. It strengthened corporate governance practises in 

2010. The Board of Directors met regularly on a quarterly basis in the course of the year. 

Board Composition

The AFC Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of the AFC Charter, has responsibility for the general 

conduct of the business of the Corporation. It exercises transparent independent judgment and acts in the 

best interests of the Corporation. As at 31 December, 2010, the Board comprised 15 directors, made up of 

12 non-executive directors and three executive directors.

Annual General Meeting

Subject to the provisions of the AFC Charter, an Annual General Meeting will be held in June 2011. 

Results and Dividends

The Corporation made a profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 of US$10.9 million.  The decline 

was largely attributable to a significant contraction in market rates on US-dollar denominated investments 

during the year.  

The directors did not recommend the payment of dividends during the year. The directors agreed that 

dividend payments will commence three years from inception.

African Commercial Banks

Central Bank of Nigeria

Individuals & Corporations

0.1 percent

56.5 percent

42.5 percent
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Principal Activities 

The Corporation is a private sector-led International organisation domiciled in Nigeria with activities across 

Africa. The Corporation offers a unique value proposition as an Africa focused infrastructure financing 

institution providing competitive products and services across complementary areas of project 

development, technical advisory, principal investing and financial advisory services.

The Corporation's business is that of providing principal investment capital in infrastructure projects or 

companies operating in five principal sectors Power, Oil & Gas, Transport, Telecommunications, Heavy 

Industry - across Africa. The Corporation also uses its liquidity to support trade finance transactions in 

African countries.

Risk Management

AFC operates a multi-layered risk management governance structure, with the Board of Directors at the 

apex of the structure, exercising and assuming ultimate authority and responsibility for the Corporation's 

risk management. Other layers in the risk management governance structure are the Board Risk and 

Investment Committee, responsible for oversight and approval of risk policies, and credit approvals above 

management's limits. The critical risks faced by the Corporation are credit, asset and liability management, 

market and operational risks.

During the year the Corporation implemented an Enterprise-wide risk management framework - with 

specific reference to credit risk management, asset and liability management, market risk management 

and operational risk management , and  in compliance with International Standards as set by Basel II. The 

Corporation also incorporated Basel II standards and international best practice in respect of the 

Corporation's Investment Policy, Loan Pricing and Valuations and Provisions policy.

Environmental and Social Risk

AFC has required environmental and social risk assessments to be carried out on projects that AFC has 

financed.  Historically, AFC has usually relied on the environmental and social risk assessments of partner 

financial institutions, whose environmental and social risk policies incorporate international best practice, 

or assessments carried out by independent environmental and social risk assessment consultants. In 2011 

the AFC will approve and begin implementing its Environmental and Social Risk policies which not only 

incorporate the Equator Principles in respect of project financing, but also, policies which are implemented 

by a number of supranational financial institutions in Europe, Africa and Asia with businesses  similar to 

those of AFC.

Executing Our Mandate



ur key focus in 2010 was to execute on our mandate of bridging the infrastructure investment 

deficit in Africa.  In this review we report on some of the steps AFC took in 2010 to further 

strengthen our project portfolio, pipeline and competitive position. We also report on how our O
integrated infrastructure financing business model - hybrid development finance and investment banking - 

financial and technical advisory, project finance, treasury and project development revenue streams and 

risk management and institutional/corporate governance practices serve as the core of our business. 

Finally, we will highlight some of the key  projects we financed in 2010, a year characterized by the 

emergence of AFC as an important engine of growth for African infrastructure investment. 

  

AFC's Role

AFC is a supranational  financial  institution and self regulated hence our adherence to international best 

practices including 'inter alia'  capital and leverage tests.   Since inception, our balance sheet has increased 

to US$1.13 bn with a marginal increase in shareholder's funds via retained earnings. In 2010, our Basel 

Tier 1 capital ratio was 100%, well in excess of the required minimum. Maintaining a sound financial 

condition is vital if we are to be effective in meeting the needs of our clients. Among the roles we play for our 

largely institutional client base are transaction advisor, project developer, financier, investor and co-investor.

Project Development - Financing for Growth & Economic Development - AFC acts by providing capital 

for our investing clients for financing projects to generate growth and deliver the products and services that 

drive economic development.  

Our financial and technical advisory business serves as our primary point of contact with our clients 

and is often the genesis for sourcing other opportunities to serve them. 

Principal investing and co-investing is another way we directly align the corporation's interests with 

those of our clients. While returns fluctuate based on equity market performance and other factors, our 

investment banking business has achieved credible returns from generation of advisory and arranging  fees 

for our shareholders over the long term. 

Portfolio Review

Coordinate project management 
from concept through commercial 
operations 

Risk capital for project development

Engineering and technical expertise

Provide financing  to projects on a 
project finance basis, and to existing 
firms seeking expansion capital

Equity, mezzanine, debt and other 
instruments as needed to ensure 
flexibility and maximum returns

Financial advisory on project finance 
transactions

Arranging of external debt and 
equity to support advisory or other 
transactions

Technical advisory services

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT PRINCIPAL INVESTING ADVISORY

Business Model Underpinned by Complementary Offerings
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Portfolio Highlights

Our project portfolio is in our core sectors of: telecommunications, oil & gas, power, transportation and 

heavy industry, across six jurisdictions including; Cape Verde, Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Nigeria, South 

Africa.  The focus of our investments include Equity, mezzanine and senior debt. Of its US$1.1bn in capital, 

AFC operates a project portfolio that has seen US$732.9m in gross debt and equity investment approvals 

since 2008, of which US$487.9m is committed and US$280.4m disbursed. No one sector contributes 

more than 25 percent. Of total approvals, approximately 50.6% were for projects based entirely in Nigeria, 

28.2% for projects in the wider West African region, and 21.2% for projects in the rest of Africa. Overall, 

portfolio performance remains stable, with notable developments in specific assets.

Main One Cable Company continues to deliver excellent operational performance (100% 

uptime since going live) and strong sales performance despite competition in the marketplace, funding 

challenges for some bandwidth purchasers, and a lag in investments required by market operators to take-

on capacity from the cable. In 2010 AFC received the African Banker Magazine award for  Deal of the Year  

for its 2009 Main One investment. AFC was nominated alongside Citadel Capital, EFG-Hermes 

Investment Bank, Rand Merchant Bank and Standard Bank. 

Left: C.S. Tyco Resolute at 
Tema Port, Ghana - 
Submarine cable laying 
vessel on arrival from 
Siexal, Portugal

Right: Main One 'Splice' 
Event on board CS Tyco 
Resolute - Completion of 
cable laying and 
connection of all landing 
stations of the cable system 
- Tema Port, Ghana. L-R: 
Andrew Alli, CEO AFC; 
Funke Opeke, CEO Main 
One Cable Company.

Main One Splice Event on 
board CS Tyco Resolute 
Tema Port, Ghana.

R-L: Funke Opeke, CEO 
Main One Cable 
Company; Representative 
of SubCom (Tyco 
Electronics Subsea 
Communications); Hon. 
Haruna Iddrisu MP, Minister 
of Communications, 
Ghana; Former Head of 
Ghana Telecommunications 
Regulatory Commission, 
Ghana
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Seven Energy

Nigeria suffers from a significant gas supply-demand imbalance, presenting enormous challenges for 

domestic power generation. Seven Energy is an indigenous oil and gas exploration and production 

company, focused on the monetization of Nigeria's significant discovered but undeveloped gas reserves.  

Seven Energy has an attractive portfolio of oil and gas assets with proven reserves in Nigeria, and is 

managed by an internationally experienced team. In August 2010, Seven Energy entered into a Joint 

Operating Agreement with Sinopec for development of the Stubb Creek field, and in November 2010 

entered into a strategic alliance with Petrofac Limited. Petrofac is a leading international provider of facilities 

solutions to the oil & gas production and processing industry, with a diverse customer portfolio including 

many of the world’s leading integrated, independent and national oil & gas companies. Petrofac is quoted 

on the London Stock Exchange and is a constituent of the FTSE 100 Index. Petrofac will invest US$100 

million to acquire a 15.0% interest in Seven Energy alongside a further $50 million from existing and other 

investors. First gas production is due end 2011. Key off-take arrangements are in place with major 

industrial customers in the region (power & heavy industry).

From its origins as an oil and gas development subsidiary, Seven Energy has set out to become a major gas 

producer to the Nigerian home market. In 2010, Seven Energy employed more than 500 workers from 

host communities to work on and support construction of the pipeline, and strengthened its senior 

management team.

Seven Energy Gas Pipeline Project - Uquo Ikot Abasi, Akwa Ibom, Nigeria 
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Bakwena Toll Road

AFC is an investor in the Bakwena toll road project, South Africa.  The Maputo Development Corridor, a 

key transport infrastructure corridor covering Roads; Rail; Borders and Ports was established by the 

Southern Africa Development Corporation (SADC), to maximise investment in the potential of the sixth 

largest developing economy in the world, social development and employment opportunities for 

disadvantaged communities. The industrial corridor was conceived to stimulate agriculture, manufacturing, 

mining and tourism. The Bakwena Toll Road forms a link road from South Africa to the Northern axis of the 

corridor. Bakenwa toll road route has been designed to form part of an  East-West axis connecting South 

Africa's industrial and commercial heartland of the Witwatersrand, with its nearest deep water port in 

Maputo, Mozambique. The Bakenwa project is a combination of urban tolling in the suburbs of Pretoria 

and long haul intercity tolling.

The Bakwena Highway group signed the concession agreement  with the South African National Roads 

Agency Limited (SANRAL) to design, build, finance, operate and maintain the Platinum Toll Highway in 

2000.  The highway consists of a 95 km section of the N1 running from Pretoria (Tshwane) northwards to 

the town of Bela Bela and a 290 km section of the N4 running from Pretoria westwards to the Botswana 

border. The N4 route consists of a dual carriageway on the northern side of Pretoria from Tshwane to 

Rustenburg and onwards to the Bostwana border.  The N1 also connects the N4 from Witbank at the 

Proefplaas Interchange with the new N4 Platinum Toll Road to Botswana at the Doornpoort Interchange. 

Africa Infrastructure Investment Managers (AIIM) co-invested with AFC in an equity investment to part-fund 

the acquisition of Infrastructure Concession South Africa (Pty) Ltd, a special purpose vehicle established to 

hold 50% of Bakwena Platinum Corridor Concession (Pty) Ltd, a toll road concession company that 

operates the Bakwena Highway.  The Bakenwa project is a combination of urban tolling in the suburbs of 

Pretoria and long haul intercity tolling.  The investment underscores  AFC's  expertise in investing in Public 

Private Partnerships and Private Finance Initiatives in its focal sectors across the African continent.

Doornpoort Toll Plaza - Bakwena Toll Road, South Africa
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Ethiopian Airlines Fleet Modernisation

Ethiopian Airlines, the national flag 

carrier of Ethiopia, was founded in 1945. 

Today, it is one of the continent's leading 

carriers, operating at the forefront of 

technology, and unrivalled in Africa for 

service and operational excellence. The 

airline plays a pivotal role in the 

economic development of Ethiopia with 

a highly respected indigenous training 

and maintenance operation, and 

integrated cargo network. The Airline commands a major share of the pan-African air transport network, 

serving 58 international destinations. It plays a major role in capacity development within Ethiopia. The 

modernization of its fleet will create in excess of 400 skilled jobs within the airlines' workforce and cost in the 

region of US$ 668 million.  

AFC co-financed new Boeing 777 aircraft, as part of the Ethiopian Airlines' investment plan for 2010-2018, 

by providing debt finance to Ethiopian Airlines in support of the purchase of five Boeing 777-260LR 

passenger jets. The new aircraft will expand Ethiopian airlines capacity on long haul routes to and from the 

rest of Africa, from its Addis Ababa hub.

AFC's co financiers in the project include; Citibank N.A., London, African Development Bank, US Eximbank, 

and PTA Bank, Kenya. AFC will continue to partner with institutions such as  Ethiopian Airlines, in its quest to 

achieve and surpass its worldwide competitors in continued technical and service excellence and capacity 

development, and in so doing execute on our mandate to bridge the infrastructure investment deficit in 

Africa.

Taiwo Adeniji
Director  &  Head of

Financial Institutions &

Advisory [Team Director]

Amadou Wadda
Senior Vice President

 Infrastructure (Transport)

Madibinet Cisse
Vice President & Counsel
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Cabeolica  - Renewable Energy Project

The first commercial scale Public Private Partnership wind farm in Sub-

Saharan Africa - The Cabeolica Project was awarded the Best Renewable 

Project in Africa Award at the Africa Energy Awards 2010.

The Cape Verde based Cabeolica wind farm project is the first 

commercial scale Public Private Partnership (PPP) wind farm in Sub-

Saharan Africa.  AFC is the majority investor in Cabeolica SA, which was 

established to develop, build, own and operate the US$90 million, 

26MW landmark renewable energy wind power project in Cape Verde, 

on the western seeboard of the Contient, north of the Equator   The PPP 

with the Government of Cape Verde and the national power utility, Electra, 

entails the construction of 30 wind turbines on four of the seven inhabited 

islands of the mid-Atlantic archipelago.  The project is financed with 

equity from the Africa Finance Corporation, Finnfund, InfraCo Africa, 

Electra and the Government of Cape Verde. Debt financing is provided by 

the European Investment Bank and the African Development Bank.

 

Providing 26MW of electricity into the grid, the project will ensure that 

over 25% of the nation's power needs are provided through renewable 

energy sources (instead of utilizing expensive and imported fuels) and the 

project stands to benefit from carbon credit revenues under the Clean 

Development Mechanism Initiative. In addition, the project will lead to 

significant direct and indirect employment opportunities and local 

manpower capacity development.

The project underscores the global imperative for developing and 

replicating sustainable renewable/green energy solutions. Through this 

Oliver Tunde Andrews
Director Origination & Coverage

[Team Director]

Tariye Isoun
Vice President &

Investment Officer

Batchi Baldeh,
Senior Vice President Power 

Kudzayi Hove
Senior Vice President 

& Head Equity Investment 
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project, AFC has strengthened its commitment to pioneering renewable energy investments on the 

continent by effectively harnessing local renewable energy resources to provide more cost efficient and 

sustainable power for national economic development in  Cape Verde. Renewable energy resources 

need to be harnessed effectively to provide more cost efficient sustainable power, address the 

infrastructure investment deficit and make an economic difference in the lives of Africans. AFC, with a 

lead investor role in this project, was  honoured to be recognised for providing an African private sector 

investment solution which underscores the global imperative for sustainable energy.  The wind farm will 

be operational in 2011.

Essar Telecom Kenya - Expansion Capital Lending Facility

AFC was a senior loan participant in the expansion capital lending facility to Essar Telecom. The facility 

enabled the funding of capital investments in infrastructure, and working capital needs for expansion in 

the Kenyan mobile telecommunication  market.

Financing partners alongside AFC included Standard Bank, Afrexim 

Bank, and PTA Bank with notable participating institutions; Overseas 

Private Investment Corporation (OPIC) Fund and China 

Construction Bank.

Installed Windmill, Santiago, Cape Verde.  Map of Cape Verde (inset)



Public Sector Financial and Technical Advisory

In Nigeria, AFC won advisory mandates from the Federal Ministry of Finance (FMoF), and technical 

advisory mandate from the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN). These mandates focus on advising the 

agencies on appropriately structuring investment interventions in the various infrastructure sectors - 

particularly power and transport.  The CBN mandate centres on Technical Advisory for the N300.0bn 

(US$2.0bn) Power and Aviation Intervention Fund (PAIF). 

The Federal Government of Nigeria launched the roadmap for power sector reform in August 2010. The 

roadmap identified key obstacles to be addressed in order to ensure critical private sector participation 

across the power sector value chain.  In January, 2011 AFC  hosted a  Power sector roundtable, to 

critically examine the key issues, constraints and practical challenges facing IPPs in Nigeria.  Participants 

included key players and stake holders from both the public and private sectors:- Nigeria Presidential Task 

Force on Power, AFC, Shell, Chevron, ExxonMobil, Contour Global,  NAPIMS, Geometric Power, 

WEMPCO, Shoreline  power and other IPPs.

In Nigeria, the Corporation reviewed a number of captive IPP financings, aimed at supporting industrial 

power supply capacity, pending an appropriate regulatory environment for larger sized projects. As 

Technical Adviser to the CBN, AFC is playing a quiet role in helping drive policy decisions in the 

appropriate direction to support private power investments.  AFC is also leading a group of international 

partners towards bringing the 340MW Ghanaian independent power project - Cenpower (one of the 

largest privately-owned IPPs in the region) to financial close in 2011. This project will serve to illustrate the 

enormous potential for private-sector led solutions in power generation, both in West Africa and elsewhere 

on the Continent.

Africa Finance Corporation
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Expanding Country Membership

hana formally joined the corporation as its seventh member on 30 November, 2010 when the 

Ghanaian Parliament ratified Ghana's membership and approved a resolution for Ghana to Gsubscribe for US$50 million of shares in the Corporation, thus expanding the pan-African 

country membership of AFC. Prospective new members also made progress during the year towards 

joining the AFC. These include Zambia, Zimbabwe, and the countries  which comprise the West African 

Economic and Monetary Union: Benin, Burkina Faso, Cote d'Ivoire, Guinea Bissau, Mali, Niger, Senegal, 

Togo.  

The Africa Finance Corporation is an international organisation established by treaty between independent 

sovereign states. AFC was created by two constitutive legal instruments: the Agreement for the 

establishment of the Africa Finance Corporation (the AFC Treaty) and the Charter of the Africa Finance 

Corporation (the AFC Charter). The AFC is headquartered in the Federal Republic of Nigeria, based on the 

Headquarters Agreement dated 28 May, 2007 between the Federal Republic of Nigeria and the Africa 

Finance Corporation.  In June, 2010 Nigeria formally ratified her membership of the corporation by 

passing the Diplomatic Immunities and Privileges (Africa Finance Corporation) order granting full 

International status to the corporation.  

The Corporation's membership is comprised of African States, corporate entities such as major commercial 

banks and financial institutions, other private sector commercial entities and a few individuals. AFC's 

current member states, in the order in which they joined the organisation are: Nigeria, Guinea-Bissau, 

Sierra Leone, The Gambia, Liberia, Guinea and Ghana.  

Africa Finance Corporation

Formal signing of Ghana's membership - Dr. Kwabena Duffuor, Minister of Finance & Economic Planning of Ghana (left) 
with Mr. Andrew Alli, AFC President & CEO, after the formal signing.

The legal team that made it happen - L-R: Ms Nana Eshun, Vice 
President & Senior Legal Counsel, AFC Dr. Adesegun Akin-Olugbade, AFC 
Executive Director & General Counsel and  Mrs Tosin Okupe, Executive 
Assistant , Legal.
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Statement of directors’ responsibility

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements for each financial year that give 

a true and fair view of the state of financial affairs of the Corporation at the end of the year and of its profit or 

loss.  The directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Corporation keeps proper accounting records 

that disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the Corporation.  They are also responsible 

for safeguarding the assets of the Corporation.

The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared using 

appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable estimates, in conformity with International 

Financial Reporting Standards.  The directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the state of the financial affairs of the Corporation and its profit or loss in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. The directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance 

of accounting records that may be relied upon in the preparation of the financial statements, as well as 

designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 

of financial statement that are free from material misstatement.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the Corporation will not remain a going 

concern for at least twelve months from the date of this statement.

Approval of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements, presented on pages 4 to 44 were approved by the board of directors on 21 

March, 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

__________________ __________________

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Africa Finance Corporation
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE MEMBERS OF AFRICA 

FINANCE CORPORATION

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Africa Finance Corporation which comprise 

the statement of financial position as of 31 December, 2010, statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended and a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors' responsibility for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  This responsibility includes: designing, 

implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 

applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 

circumstances.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an independent opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards 

require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error.  

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation 

and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

company's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 

Africa Finance Corporation as of 31 December, 2010, and of their financial performance and their cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants 

Lagos, Nigeria 14 April 2011

PricewaterhouseCooper Chartered Accountants, 25E Muri Okunola Street, Victoria Island Lagos, Nigeria.

Africa Finance Corporation Financial Statements
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Africa Finance Corporation

Statement of comprehensive income

Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income 6 29,425 75,474

Fee and commission income 7 5,903 4,974

Operating income 35,328 80,448

Exchange loss 8 - (26,688)

Administrative expenses 9 (17,454) (20,279)

Impairment charges 10 (6,967) (4,766)

Profit for the year 10,907 28,715

Total comprehensive income for the year 10,907 28,715

Earning per share for profit     

Attributable to the equity holders during the period

(expressed in United States cents per share)   

- basic 12 1.00 2.64

- diluted 12 1.00 2.64

*The accompanying notes 1-28 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Financial Statements



Note* As at As at

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS:

Cash and balances with central and 

commercial banks 13 156,873 483,594

Loans and advances to banks 14 756,681 530,888

Loans and advances to other customers 15 100,529 10,000

Investment securities 16 115,281 90,313

Other assets 17 3,960 6,678

Property and equipment 18 2,574 3,753

Intangible assets 19 815 1,948

Total assets 1,136,713 1,127,174

LIABILITIES:

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 20 3,353 4,720

Total liabilities 3,353 4,720

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the Corporation’s 

equity holders

Share capital 23 1,089,319 1,089,319

Retained earnings 24 44,041 33,134

Total equity 1,133,360 1,122,453

Total liabilities and equity 1,136,713 1,127,174

Contingent liabilities and commitments 21 141,069 61,008

*The accompanying notes 1-28 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of financial position
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Statement of changes in equity

Share capital Retained earnings Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

As at 01 January 2009 1,089,319 4,419 1,093,738

Net profit and total comprehensive 

income - 28,715 28,715

As at 31 December 2009 1,089,319 33,134 1,122,453

As at 1 January 2010 1,089,319 33,134 1,122,453

Net profit and total comprehensive

income - 10,907 10,907

As at 31 December 2010 1,089,319 44,041 1,133,360
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Statement of Cash Flows

Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and similar income received 38,149 67,937

Fee and commission receipts 5,685 5,434

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (17,714) (18,495)

Other assets 2,381 (879)

Deposits with central and other commercial banks 471,687 (8,760)

Loans and advances to banks 66,350 200,650

Loans and advances to customers (89,362) (10,000)

Other liabilities 709 (507)

Net cash from operating activities 477,885 235,380

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investment securities 16 (30,815) (91,724)

Investment awaiting capitalisation 17 84 37,833

Disposal of property and equipment - 92

Purchase of property and equipment 18 (417) (605)

Purchase of software/Intangibles 19 (802) (923)

Net cash from investment activities (31,949) (55,327)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 445,936 180,053

Cash at the beginning of the year 453,423 300,058

Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents - (26,688)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 26 899,358 453,423

*The accompanying notes 1-28 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. General information

Africa Finance Corporation (AFC or the Corporation) is an international organisation established by treaty 

between independent sovereign states.

AFC was created by two constitutive legal instruments: (i) the Agreement for the establishment of the Africa 

Finance Corporation (the AFC Treaty) and (ii) the Charter of the Africa Finance Corporation (the AFC Charter).  

The AFC is headquartered in the Federal Republic of Nigeria, based on the Headquarters Agreement dated 28 

May 2007 between the Federal Republic of Nigeria and the Africa Finance Corporation.  The AFC's 

headquarters is located at 3a Osborne Road, Ikoyi, Lagos, Nigeria.

The Corporation's membership is comprised of African States, corporate entities such as major commercial 

banks and financial institutions, other private sector commercial entities and a few individuals.  The current 

Member States are Nigeria, Sierra Leone, Guinea Bissau, The Gambia, Liberia and Guinea Conakry.  On 1 

December 2010, Ghana became the seventh African nation to join the Corporation. The Ghanaian parliament 

also approved a resolution to subscribe for US$ 50million of the Corporation's shares. Other potential member 

States are going through the process of achieving membership of the Corporation in accordance with their 

respective internal procedures.  Thirty Seven (37) shareholders (including the Central Bank of Nigeria with an 

ownership status of 42.5%) have thus far subscribed and paid for shares in AFC in accordance with the terms of 

the AFC Charter.

The Corporation's primary objective is to finance infrastructure projects in Africa.

The Corporation commenced operations on November 1, 2007 after certain conditions prescribed in its 

constitutive instruments were fulfilled.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 have been authorised and approved for issue by 

the Board of Directors on 21 March 2011. Neither the Corporation's owners nor others have the power to 

amend the financial statements after issue.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The Principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  

These policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of presentation

The Corporation's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB).  The financial statements are 

presented in United States Dollars (US$) rounded to the nearest thousand.

The financial statements comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial position, 

the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and explanatory notes.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Standards 

/interpretations 

Title Applicable for 

Financial years 

IAS 1

IAS 36

Presentation of financial instruments

Impairment of Assets

1 January 2010

1 January 2010

The statement of cash flows shows the change in cash and cash equivalents during the period from operating 

activities, financing and investing activities.  Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments.  Note 

26 shows which items of the statement of financial position are included in cash and cash equivalents.

The cash flow from operating activities are determined using the direct method.  The Corporation's assignment of 

cash flows to operating, financing and investing categories depends on the Corporation's business model 

(management approach).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the Corporation's accounting policies.  

Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements for the period under 

consideration.  The executive management believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that 

the Corporation's financial statements therefore present the financial position and results fairly.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the corporation

The amendments to the existing standards below that are part of the Annual improvements project 2010, 

are relevant to the corporations operations:

IAS 1: Presentation of financial statements. The amendment clarifies that the potential settlement of a 

liability by the issue of equity is not relevant to its classification as current or non-current. By amending the 

definition of current liability, the amendment permits a liability to be classified as non-current provided that 

the entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least 12 

months after the accounting period.  The application of the amendment does not have an impact on the 

Corporation's financial statements.

IAS 36: Impairment of Assets. The amendment clarifies that the largest cash-generating unit (or group of 

units) to which goodwill should be allocated for the purposes of impairment testing is an operating segment, 

as defined by paragraph 5 of IFRS 8, 'Operating Segments' (that is, before the aggregation of segments with 

similar economic characteristics). The application of the amendment does not have an impact on the 

Corporation's financial statements.
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(b) New and amended standards and interpretations mandatory for the financial year beginning 1 January 

2010 but not relevant to the Corporation:

Standards/interpretations Title Applicable for Financial 

years beginning 

on/after

IFRS 1

IFRS 2 (amended)

IFRS 2

IFRS 3

IFRS 5

IAS 27 (revised)

IAS 38

IAS 39

IFRIC 9 & IAS 39

IFRIC 17

IFRIC 18

First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards - Additional exemptions 

for first-time adopters

Share-based payment - Group cash-settled 

share-based payment transaction

Share-based Payment (part of Annual 

Improvement Project 2009) - Scope of IFRS 

2 and revised IFRS 3

Business combinations

Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations (part of Annual 

Improvement Project 2009) - Disclosures of 

non-current assets (or disposal groups) 

classified as held for sale or discontinued 

operations

Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements

Intangible assets (part of Annual 

Improvement Project 2009) – Additional 

consequential amendments arising from 

revised IFRS 3

Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement (part of Annual 

Improvement Project 2009) – 

(i) Treating loan prepayment penalties as 

closely related embedded derivatives

(ii) Scope exemption for business 

combination contracts

Reassessment of embedded derivatives & 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement

Distribution of non-cash assets to owners

Transfers of assets from customers

1 July 2009

1 January 2010

1 July 2009

1 July 2009

1 January 2010

1 July 2009

1 July 2009

1 January 2010

30 June 2009

1 July 2009

1 July 2009
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Standards/interpretati

ons

Title Applicable for Financial 

years beginning on/after

IFRS 1 (amended)

IFRS 9

IAS 24 (amended)

IAS 32

IFRIC 14 (amended)

IFRIC 19

First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards – Limited exemption from 

comparative IFRS 7 disclosures for first-time 

adopters.

Consolidated and separate financial statements

Financial instruments part 1: Classification and 

measurement

Related party disclosures

Financial instruments: Presentat ion – 

Classification of rights issue

IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, 

minimum funding requirement and their 

interaction

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 

Instruments

1 July 2010

1 January 2013

1 January 2011

1 February 2010

1 January 2011

1 July 2010

(c) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective:

The following standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued and are mandatory for the 

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011, or later periods and are not expected to be relevant 

to the Corporation, except for IFRS 9.

IFRS 9:Financial instruments part 1: Classification and measurement and part 2: Financial liabilities and 

Derecognition of financial instruments.

IFRS 9: Part 1 was issued in November 2009 and replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification 

and measurement of financial assets. Key features are as follows:

Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories: those to be measured 

subsequently at fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to be 

made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing its 

financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and both the 

objective of the entity's business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows, and the 

asset's contractual cash flows represent only payments of principal and interest (that is, it has only 'basic loan 

features'). All other debt instruments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are held for 

trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other equity investments, an irrevocable 

election can be made at initial recognition, to recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses 

through other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value gains 
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and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Dividends are 

to be presented in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return on investment.

While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2013, earlier adoption is permitted. The 

Corporation is considering the implications of the Standard, the impact on the Corporation and the timing 

of its adoption by the Corporation.

IFRS 9: Part 2 was issued in October 2010 and includes guidance on financial liabilities and derecognition 

of financial instruments.  The accounting and presentation of financial liabilities and for derecognising 

financial instruments has been relocated from IAS 39, Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 

without change except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Under the new standard, entities with financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss recognise 

changes in the liability's credit risk directly in other comprehensive income.  There is no subsequent recycling 

of the amounts in other comprehensive income to profit or loss, but accumulated gains or losses may be 

transferred within equity.

Improvements to IFRS

Improvements to IFRS were issued in May 2010. The amendments that are relevant to the Corporation's 

operations relate to: IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IAS 1: Presentation of financial 

statements. Most of the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 

with early application permitted.

IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amendment emphasises the interaction between 

quantitative and qualitative disclosures about the nature and extent of risks associated with financial 

instruments. 

IAS 1: Presentation of financial statements. The amendment clarifies that an entity must present an analysis 

of other comprehensive income for each component of equity, either in the statement of changes in equity or 

in the notes to the financial statements.

(a) Early adoption of standards

The Corporation did not early-adopt new or amended standards in 2010.

2.2 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in US Dollars which is the Corporation's functional currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 

at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity 

as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.
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Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available for 

sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the 

security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes 

in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount are 

recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value are reported through 

profit or loss, as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as 

equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve in equity.

All foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in profit or loss are presented net within the corresponding 

item. Foreign exchange gains and losses on other comprehensive income items are presented in other 

comprehensive income within the corresponding item.

2.3 Financial assets and liabilities

All financial assets and liabilities – which include derivative financial instruments – have to be recognised in the 

statement of financial position and measured in accordance with their assigned category.

2.3.1 Financial Assets

The Corporation classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. 

Management determines the classification at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value 

through profit or loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of 

selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that 

are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. 

Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging 

instruments. Financial assets held for trading consist of debt instruments, including money-market paper, 

traded corporate and Corporation loans, and equity instruments, as well as financial assets with embedded 

derivatives. They are recognised in the statement of financial position as 'Financial assets held for trading'.

Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; transaction costs are 

taken directly to profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included directly in 

profit or loss and are reported as 'Net gains/ (losses) on financial instruments classified as held for trading'. 

Interest income and expense and dividend income and expenses on financial assets held for trading are 

included in 'Net interest income' or 'Dividend income', respectively. There are no financial instruments 

classified as held for trading as at 31 December 2010.
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(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the entity intends to sell immediately or in the short term, 

which are classified as held for trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair 

value through profit or loss; (b) those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as available for sale; 

or (c) those for which the Corporation may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than 

because of credit deterioration.

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to originate or 

purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. Loans and receivables are reported in the statement of financial position as loans 

and advances to Corporations or customers, or as investment securities. Interest on loans is included in the 

income statement and is reported as 'interest and similar income'. In the case of impairment, the impairment 

loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and recognised in the income statement 

as 'loan impairment charges'.

(c) Held-to maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 

fixed maturities that the Corporation's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, 

other than:

(i) those that the Corporation upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; 

(ii) those that the Corporation designates as available for sale; and

(iii) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.

These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and measured 

subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Interest on held-to-maturity investments is included in the income statement and reported as 'interest and 

similar income'. In the case of an impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the 

carrying value of the investment and recognised in the income statement as 'net gains/ (losses) on 

investment securities'. Held-to-maturity investments are corporate bonds. There are no financial instruments 

classified as held to maturity as at 31 December 2010.

(d) Available for Sale

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be 

sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices or that are 

not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss.

Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity and available for 

sale are recognised on trade date- the date on which the Corporation commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration 

including any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange 

gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised. If an available-for-sale financial asset is 

determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income is recognised in the income statement. However, interest is calculated using the 

effective interest method, and foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available 

for sale are recognised in the income statement. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are 

recognised in the income statement in 'Dividend income' when the Corporation's right to receive payment is 

established.

The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices. If there is no active 

market for a financial asset (and for unlisted securities), the Corporation establishes fair value by using 

valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm's length transactions, discounted cash flow 

analysis, option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset (loan or 

equity investment) are capitalised. Transaction costs are incremental costs that the Corporation would not 

have incurred if it had acquired issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Recognition

The Corporation uses trade date accounting for regular contracts when recording financial asset 

transactions. Financial assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for derecognition are 

presented in the statement of financial position as 'assets pledged as collateral', if the transferee has the right 

to sell or re-pledge them.

2.3.2 Financial Liabilities

The Corporation's holding in financial liabilities is in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

(including financial liabilities held for trading and those that are designated at fair value), financial liabilities at 

amortised cost and hedging derivatives. Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished.

Financial liabilities that are not classified at fair value through profit or loss fall into this category and are 

measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits from Corporations or 

customers, debt securities in issue for which the fair value option is not applied convertible bonds and 

subordinated debts.

2.3.3 Determination of fair value

For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair value of financial assets and financial 

liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. This includes listed equity securities and 

quoted debt instruments on major exchanges and broker quotes from Bloomberg and Reuters. 

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly 

available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices 

represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. If the above criteria are not 
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met, the market is regarded as being inactive. Indicators that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-

offer spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few recent transactions. The Corporation 

did not have any financial instrument with market observable curve as at 31 December 2010.

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In these techniques, fair 

values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments, using models to estimate 

the present value of expected future cash flows or other valuation techniques, using inputs (for example, LIBOR 

yield curve, foreign exchange rates, volatilities and counterparty spreads), existing at the dates of the statement of 

financial position.

The Corporation, in circumstances whereby this is applicable, uses widely recognised valuation models for 

determining fair values of non-standardised financial instruments of lower complexity, such as options or interest 

rate and currency swaps, Inputs into models are generally market-observable for these financial instruments.

For more complex instruments, the Corporation uses internally developed models, which are usually based on 

valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within the industry. Valuation models are 

used primarily to value derivatives transacted in the over-the-counter market, unlisted debt securities (including 

those with embedded derivatives) and other debt instruments for which markets were or have become illiquid. 

Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated. As at 31 

December, 2010, there are no level 3 financial instruments held by the corporation

The Corporation uses its own credit risk spreads in determining the current value for its derivative liabilities and all 

other liabilities for which it has elected the fair value option. When the Corporation's credit spreads widen, the 

Corporation recognises a gain on these liabilities because the value of the liabilities decreased. When the 

Corporation's credit spreads narrow, the Corporation recognises a loss on these liabilities because the value of 

the liabilities increased.

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with certainty. 

Valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the Corporation holds. 

Valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risks, 

liquidity risk and counterparty credit risk. Based on the established fair value model governance policies, and 

related controls and procedures applied, management believes that these valuation adjustments are necessary 

and appropriate to fairly state the values of financial instruments carried at fair value in the statement of financial 

position. Price data and parameters used in the measurement procedures applied are generally reviewed 

carefully and adjusted, if necessary – particularly in view of current market developments.

The measurement of asset-backed securities held for trading is partly based on generally accepted valuation 

models and partly based on indicative prices given the absence of such models. Such indicative prices are first 

validated against other sources of price data. In addition, the Corporation's analysis takes into account factors 

such as tranche specific collateralisation status and collateral structures; analyses of underlying receivables, 

primarily regarding redemption schedules and payment defaults of securitised receivables trigger events, and 

rating changes. There are no asset backed securities held for trading as at 31 December 2010.

The fair value of over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives is determined using valuation methods that are commonly 

accepted in the financial markets, such as net present value techniques and option pricing models. The fair value 

of foreign exchange forward contracts is generally based on current forward contract exchange rates. Structured 

interest rate derivatives are measured using appropriate option pricing models.
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When the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, the instruments are carried at 

cost less impairment. The fair value for loans and advances as well as liabilities to Corporations and customers 

are determined using a present value model on the basis of contractually agreed cash flows, taking into account 

credit quality, liquidity and costs.

The fair values of contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments correspond to their carrying amounts.

2.4 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 

there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 

basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

 2.5 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as held for 

trading or designated at  fair value through profit or loss, are recognised within 'interest income' and 'interest 

expense' in the income statement using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial 

liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the 

financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 

financial liability.  The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an 

integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment 

loss, interest income is recognised using the to discount as future cash flow for the purpose of measuring the 

impairment loss.

2.6 Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided except 

for structuring fees (i.e. fees related to structuring, term sheet negotiation and coordination) which are recognised 

in advance. Commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct 

costs), and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Commission and fees arising 

from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party – such as the arrangement of 

the acquisition of shares or other securities, or the purchase or sale of businesses – are recognised on completion 

of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised based 

on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-apportionate basis.

2.7 Sale and repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (repos') are reclassified in the financial statements as pledged 

assets when the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or re-pledge the collateral; the counterparty 

liability is included in amounts due to other banks, deposits from banks, other deposits or deposits due to 
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customers, as appropriate. Securities purchased under agreements to resell reverse repos are recorded as loans 

and advances to other banks or customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and repurchase price is 

treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method. Securities lent 

to counterparties are also retained in the financial statements.

2.8 Impairment of financial assets

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Corporation assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired 

and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 

events that occurred after initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact 

on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to 

the attention of the Corporation about the following loss events:-

i) significant financial difficulty of the borrower;

ii) a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal repayments;

iii) the corporation granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's 

financial difficulty, a concession that the Corporation would not otherwise consider;

iv) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from 

a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot 

yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the Corporation, including:

- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Corporation; or 

- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the Corporation.

The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by the Executive Management 

for each identified portfolio.  In general, the periods used vary between 3 – 12 months. In exceptional cases, 

longer periods are warranted.

The Corporation first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets 

that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 

significant. If the Corporation determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 

assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar 

credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 

impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised, are not included in a collective 

assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value 

of estimated future cash flows excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred, discounted at the 

financial asset's original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 

allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity 

asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 

interest rate determined under the contract.  As a practical expedient, the Corporation may measure impairment 

on the basis of an instrument's fair value using an observable market price.

Annual Report & Accounts For the year ended 31 December 2010    |    44

Africa Finance Corporation Financial Statements



The calculation of the present value of the estimated cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash 

flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not the 

foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar 

credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Corporation's grading process that considers asset type, industry, 

geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those characteristics are 

relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors' ability to 

pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the 

basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Corporation and historical loss experience for assets with 

credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Corporation. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of 

current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period in which the 

historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist 

currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be consistent with changes in 

related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates, property prices, 

payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the Corporation. The 

methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Corporation to 

reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is unrecoverable, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are 

written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been 

determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of provision for loan 

impairment in the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and 

the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an 

improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the 

allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statement.

(b) Assets classified as available for sale

The Corporation assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial 

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available for 

sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in 

determining whether the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available for-sale financial 

assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 

value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement – is 

removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a 

debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an 

event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed 

through the income statement.
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2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 

impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value 

less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 

levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). The impairment test also can 

be performed on a single asset when the fair value less cost to sell or the value in use can be determined reliably. 

Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each 

reporting date.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 

month's maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and non-restricted balances with central banks, 

treasury bills and other eligible bills, loans and advances to banks, amounts due from other banks and short term 

government securities.

2.11 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active 

markets including recent market transactions, and valuation techniques (for example for swaps and currency 

transactions), including discounted cash flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate. All derivatives 

are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as the conversion option in a purchased 

convertible bond, are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely 

related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These 

embedded derivatives are separately accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the 

income statement unless the Corporation chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair value through profit or 

loss.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised 

immediately in the income statement under 'net gains/(losses) on financial instruments classified as held for 

trading'. However, the gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in 

conjunction with financial assets or financial liabilities designated at fair value are included in 'net gains on 

financial instruments designated at fair value'.

2.12 Property and equipment

All property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's 

carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 

economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of the item can be measured 
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reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in 

which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost to residual value over estimated useful 

lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvement 25 years or over the period of the lease if less.

Furniture and equipment 3 - 8 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

The asset's residual values and useful life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 

period.

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An asset's carrying amount is written down 

immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable 

amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts. These are included 

in the income statement.

2.13 Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from computer software licences and other 

intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are 

amortised using the straight-line method over the estimated useful economic life. Intangible assets with an 

indefinite useful life are not amortised. At each date of the statement of financial position, intangible assets are 

reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, 

the intangibles assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment 

loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Corporation chooses to use the 

cost model for the measurement after recognition. Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are annually tested 

for impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

a) Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring 

to use the specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives.

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an 

expense incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software 

products controlled by the Corporation, that will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one 

year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include software development employee costs and an 

appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Computer software costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over 3 years.
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Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software 

products controlled by the Corporation are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are 

met:

(i) It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use.

(ii) Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it.

(iii) There is an ability to use or sell the software product.

(iv) The software product will generate demonstrable future economic benefits.

(v) Adequate availability of technical, financial and other resources to complete software development  or 

sell the software product.

(vi) The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent 

period.

(b) Project Development Expenditure

Costs associated with development of projects are capitalised when they meet the following recognition 

requirements of IAS38: (i) the cost can be separated from other costs of the business; (ii) future economic 

benefits will flow to the Corporation;  (iii) the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

2.14 Employee Benefits

The Corporation's pension framework is still being developed and will be finalise in the new financial year.  Funds 

are currently being set aside in lieu of employer contributions to the pension fund.

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events. It is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the 

amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 

determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of 

an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation 

using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being the issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) 

net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between 

proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period 

of the borrowing using the effective interest method.
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2.17 Share capital

(a) Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options or to the acquisition of a 

business are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

(b) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the 

Corporation's shareholders.

Dividends declared after the statement of financial position date are dealt with in the subsequent event 

note.

(c) Treasury shares

Where the Corporation purchases it’s equity shares, the consideration paid is deducted from total 

shareholders' equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled. Where such shares are subsequently 

sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders' equity.

2.18  Comparatives

Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all amounts are reported or disclosed 

with comparative information. Where IAS 8 applies, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with 

changes in presentation in the current year.

3. Financial Risk Management

AFC's business philosophy recognises that risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The 

corporation's aim therefore is not to eliminate all risks, but to design policies; processes and procedures that will 

enable it achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return. AFC believes that a strong risk management 

function is key to its successful long-term operations. 

AFC operates a multi-layered risk management governance structure, with the Board of Directors at the apex of 

the structure, exercising and assuming ultimate authority and responsibility for the Corporation's risk 

management. Other layers in the risk management governance structure are (i) Board Risk and Investment 

Committee, responsible for oversight and approval of risk policies, and credit approvals above management's 

authority levels; (ii) Management Executive Committee, (EXCO) responsible for review of investment proposals, 

and exercise of management's delegated authority for investment approvals; (iii) Management Risk Committee, 

responsible for the risk policies review and implementation; (iv) Risk Management Department, responsible for 

risk policies development and monitoring; and (v) Business Units, responsible for the creation and management 

of risk assets.

The most important types of risks faced by the Corporation are credit risk, market risk and operational risk. These 

individual sources of risk and how the Corporation manages them are described in more detail below. 
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3.1 Credit Risk

The Corporation takes on exposures to credit risk, which is the risk of financial loss as a result of a failure by a 

client or counterparty to meet its contractual obligation to the Corporation. The Corporation has two principal 

sources of credit risk: (i) credit risk on its project loans and investment; and (ii) counterparty credit risk on its 

portfolio of treasury investments.  The first source of credit risk has become increasingly significant as the level of 

the Corporation's investment portfolio has risen.  The Corporation's credit risks are managed within a framework 

of credit policies, guidelines and processes, which are described in more detail in 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 below.

3.1.1 Project and Investment Credit Risk

The Corporation has developed a comprehensive Credit Risk Policy (CRP) that details its risk philosophy and 

metrics.  The CRP defines the level and type of credit exposures that AFC is prepared to accept in order to achieve 

its business goals and objectives.  It defines the Corporation's risk apetite along three key metrics; Capital 

Adequacy Framework, Exposure Limits Framework and Credit Risk Acceptance criteria.

AFC's Capital Adequacy Framework creates a quantifiable link between the risks assumed and the amount of risk 

capital required to support those risks. The capital adequacy framework ensures that the Corporation holds 

adequate levels of capital to support its investments operations.

AFC uses the Exposure Limits Framework to manage its exposures to individual and group credit risks. The 

objective is to ensure that AFC avoids excessive portfolio concentration either in single projects or groups of 

projects, or in particular sectors that could be simultaneously affected by similar exogenous events. The Exposure 

Limits Framework defines the limits of risk exposures in relation to a single borrower or groups of borrowers, to 

industry sectors and to individual countries. The limits are recommended by management and approved by the 

Board Risk and Investment Committee.

The Credit Risk Acceptance Criteria refer to the set of terms and conditions to be met before an investment is 

accepted into AFC's portfolio. These include specific industry, financial, managerial, environment and 

competitive benchmarks that proposed investments must attain before they are considered for AFC credit 

exposures.

3.1.2 Credit risk measurement

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with 

changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a 

portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios 

and of default correlations between counterparties.

The Corporation has developed models to support the quantification of the credit risk. These rating and scoring 

models are in use for all key credit portfolios and form the basis for measuring default risks. In measuring credit 

risk of loan and advances at a counterparty level, the Corporation considers three components: (i) the probability 

of default by the client or counterparty on its contractual obligations; (ii) current exposures to the counterparty and 

its likely future development, from which the Corporation derives the 'exposure at default'; and (iii) the likely 

recovery ratio on the defaulted obligations (the loss given default). The models are reviewed regularly to monitor 

their robustness relative to actual performance and amended as necessary to optimise their effectiveness.
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3.1.3 Counterparty Credit Risk

AFC invests its liquid resources in different financial instruments to generate income, pending disbursements to 

investment projects. These financial instruments involve, to some degree, the risk that the counterparty to the 

transaction may be unable to meet its obligation to the Corporation when it falls due. The Corporation manages 

this counterparty risk by executing transactions within a prudent framework of approved counterparties, 

counterparty credit rating standards and counterparty risk exposures limits. The risk exposure limit for each 

counterparty is a function of the counterparty's credit rating and its shareholders funds (unimpaired by losses). 

The risk limits are proposed by the Risk Management Department and approved by the Executive Management 

Committee.

3.1.4 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Corporation manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified - in 

particular, to individual counterparties and Corporations, and to industries and countries. The Corporation 

structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one 

borrower, or Corporations of borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments. Such risks are monitored 

on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary. Limits on the 

level of credit risk by product, industry sector and country are approved by the Board of Directors.

 3.1.5 Credit Concentration

Maximum exposure

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Balances with central and 

commercial banks 156,873 483,594

Loan and advances to banks 756,681 530,888

Loan and advances to other customers 100,529 10,000

Other assets 836 2,101

At 31 December 1,014,919 1,026,583

The above table represents a worse case scenario of credit risk exposure of the Corporation, as at 31 

December 2010 without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. For on-balance-

sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of 

financial position.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the 

Corporation, resulting from its loan and advances portfolio given that the obligators are mainly top tier banks 

in Nigeria.
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3.1.6 Loans and advances 2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Loans and advances

Neither past due nor impaired 857,210 540,888

The Corporation has no provision for loans and advances as at 31st December 2010 because no loans and 

advances were considered to be impaired.

The credit quality of the loans and advances to banks and other customers that are neither past due nor 

impaired are detailed below:

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Counterparties with international credit rating (S&P, Fitch, GCR)

AA+/F1+ (Fitch) - -

AA-/F1+ (Fitch) 200,008 14

A+/F1+ (Fitch) 100,792 50,551

B+/Negative/B(S&P)/A1/A+(GCR)/B/B+(Fitch) 266,126 286,671

B-/Negative/B+(S&P)/A-/F2 (GCR)/B/B (Fitch) 177,250 125,621

B (Watch Negative) (S&P) - 26,851

744,176 489,708

Counterparties with domestic credit rating (Agusto & Co)

BBB - 41,180

- 41,180

Counterparties without credit ratings

Group 1 - 10,000

Group 2 113,034 -

113,034 10,000

Total unimpaired nor past due loans 

and advances to Banks 857,210 540,888

Group 1 - New customers/related parties (less than 6 months).

Group 2 -  Existing customers/related parties (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past.

Group 3 - Existing customers/related parties (more than 6 months) with some defaults in the past.

All defaults were fully recovered.

3.1.7 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

Geographical sectors

The following table analyses the Corporation's main credit exposures at their carrying amounts, as categorised 

by geographical region as at 31 December 2010. The Corporation has allocated exposures to regions based 

on the country of domicile of its counterparties.
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Nigeria Others Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Cash and balances with central and

commercial banks 1,496 155,377 156,873

Loans and advances to banks 287,846 468,835 756,681

Loans and advances to other customers 49,612 50,917 100,529

Other assets 836 - 836

As at 31 December 2010 339,790 675,129 1,014,919

Cash and balances with central and

commercial banks 483,594 - 483,594

Loans and advances to banks 490,330 40,558 530,888

Loans and advances to other 

customers - 10,000 10,000

Other assets 2,101 - 2,101

As at December 2009 976,025 50,558 1,026,583

3.2 Market Risk

AFC takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions in interest 

rates, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and 

changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads foreign 

exchange rates and equity prices. The Corporation has no trading portfolios as at 31 December 2010.

3.2.1 Market risk measurement techniques

As part of the management of market risk, the Corporation undertakes various hedging strategies with hedge 

accounting. 

The Corporation also enters into interest rate swaps to match the interest rate risk associated with the fixed-

rate long-term debt securities and loans to which the fair value option has been applied. 

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below.

(a) Value at Risk

The Corporation applies a 'value at risk' (VAR) methodology to its trading portfolios (including assets and 

liabilities designated at fair value) and enterprise-wide, to estimate the market risk of positions held. This 

metric is the maximum expected loss of a position/portfolio assuming a holding period, and confidence 

interval. The calculation of this summary measure of market risk (VAR) involves reasonable assumptions 

and approximations. VAR is calculated every business day and reported to the Executive Management 

Committee (EXCO). 

VAR is a statistically based estimate of the potential loss on the current portfolio from adverse market 

movements. It expresses the 'maximum' amount the Corporation might lose, but only to a certain 

level of confidence (95%). There is therefore a specified statistical probability (5%) that actual loss could 
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be greater than the VAR estimate. The VAR model assumes a certain 'holding period' until positions can be 

closed (1 day). It also assumes that market moves occurring over this holding period will follow a similar 

pattern to those that have occurred in the past. The Corporation's assessment of past movements is based 

on data for the past 1 year. The Corporation applies these historical changes in rates, prices, indices, 

directly to its current positions - a method known as historical simulation. Actual outcomes are monitored 

regularly to test the validity of the assumptions and parameters/factors used in the VAR calculation. The 

use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these limits in the event of more significant market 

movements.

As VAR constitutes an integral part of the Corporation's market risk control regime, VAR limits are 

established by the Board annually for all trading portfolio operations and allocated to business units. The 

quality of the VAR model is continuously monitored by back-testing the VAR results for trading books. All 

back-testing exceptions (positive or negative) are investigated, and reported to EXCO daily and ALCO 

monthly.

(b) Stress Test

Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme conditions. The 

Corporation carries out stress tests for investment group portfolios and treasury portfolios.

Investment Group: Projects are stress tested at Early Investment Memorandum (EIM) and Final Investment 

Memorandum (FIM) stages. These tests are generally backwards looking and forward looking “what if” 

simulations on idiosyncratic and systemic risk factors relevant to the project. The results of these tests are 

reviewed by the Risk Management and Investment Committees.

Treasury Group: While ad hoc stress testing of risk factors is conducted periodically, the stress testing 

reported daily to EXCO is generally backwards looking, by applying the worst market movement in the last 

5 years to the current portfolio. For certain risk factors, this perturbation is applied under liquid markets 

and illiquid markets assumptions.

3.2.2 Foreign exchange risk

The Corporation takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange 

rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency which is 

monitored. The table below summarizes the Corporation's exposure to foreign exchange rate risk at 31 

December 2010. Included in the table are the Corporation's financial instruments at carrying amounts, 

categorised by currency.
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Concentrations of currency risk – on-statement of financial position 

Financial instruments

31 December 2010 Dollar Naira Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with central 

and commercial banks 156,873 - 156,873

Loans and advances to banks 754,690 1,991 756,681

Loans and advances to other 

customers 100,529 - 100,529

Investment securities 115,281 - 115,281

Other assets 836 - 836

Total financial assets as 

at 31 December 2010 1,128,209 1,991 1,130,200

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 3,353 - 3,353

Net on balance sheet financial position 1,124,856 1,991 1,126,847

31 December 2009 Dollar Naira Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with central 

and commercial banks 483,594 - 483,594

Loans and advances to banks 510,069 20,819 530,888

Loans and advances to other

customers 10,000 - 10,000

Investment securities 90,313 - 90,313

Other assets 2,024 77 2,101

Total financial assets as 

at 31 December 2009 1,096,000 20,896 1,116,896

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 4,715 4 4,720

3.2.3 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates.  The Corporation takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations 

in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks.  Interest margins may 

increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.  The 

board sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken.
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The table below summarises the Corporation's exposure to interest rate risks.  It includes the Corporation's 

financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier contractual repricing or maturity dates

As at 31 December 2010

Assets Up to 3 Above 3 Non Interest

months months Bearing Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Cash and balances with central 156,873 - - 156,873

Loans and advances to banks 756,681 - - 756,681

Loans and advances to customers 83,745 16,784 - 100,529

Investment securities - - 115,281 115,281

Other assets - - 836 836

Total financial assets 997,299 16,784 116,117 1,130,200

Liabilities

Other liabilities - - 3,353 3,353

Total interest repricing gap 997,299 16,784 112,764 1,126,847

As at 31 December 2009

Assets Up to 3 Above 3 Non Interest

months months Bearing Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Cash and balances with central 471,972 - - 471,972

Loans and advances to banks 532,510 10,000 - 542,510

Loans and advances to customers 10,000 - - 10,000

Investment securities - - 90,313 90,313

Other assets - - 2,101 2,101

Total financial assets 1,014,482 10,000 92,414 1,116,896

Liabilities

Other liabilities - - 4,720 4,720

Total interest repricing gap 1,014,482 10,000 87,694 1,112,176

3.2.4 Price risk

The Corporation is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Corporation. The 

Corporation is not exposed to commodity price risk, cash requirements from contractual commitments, or 

other cash outflows, such as debt maturities or margin calls for derivatives. Such outflows would deplete 

available cash resources for client lending, trading activities and investments. In extreme circumstances, lack 

of liquidity could result in reductions in the statement of financial position and sales of assets, or potentially an 

inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the Corporation will be unable to do so is inherent in all 

Corporation operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide events 

including, but not limited to, credit events, merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural 

disasters.
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 To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Corporation diversifies its portfolio. 

Diversification of the portfolio is executed in accordance with the limits set by the Corporation.

3.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its 

financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence 

may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil commitments to lend.  

The Corporation's liquidity management process includes:

- Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can 

be met. 

- Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal requirements; and 

- Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.  

The Corporation holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality liquid assets to support 

payment obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The 

Corporation's assets held for managing liquidity risk comprises: 

- Cash and balances with central and commercial banks.

- Loan and advances to banks.

- Secondary sources of liquidity in the form of highly liquid instruments in the Corporation's trading 

portfolios.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the month. The 

starting point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and 

the expected collection date of the financial assets.

The table below analyses the Corporation's financial instruments into relevant maturity groupings based on 

the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 

table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal the carrying 

balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Above

Up to 3 months  3 months Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 31 December 2010

Total financial liabilities 3,353 - 3,353

(Contractual maturity dates)

Total financial assets 998,135 16,784 1,014,919

(Contractual maturity dates)
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Above

Up to 3 months  3 months Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 31 December 2009

Total financial liabilities 4,720 - 4,720

(Contractual maturity dates)

Total financial assets 554,611 471,972 1,026,583

(Contractual maturity dates)

3.4 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, 

or from external events.  It includes the risk of failing to comply with applicable laws and regulations as well as 

reputation and franchise risks associated with the Corporation's business practice or market conduct.  Failure 

to manage and adequately control operational risks could result in significant financial losses.  Potentially, it 

could also result in damage to the Corporation's reputation which could undermine growth by reducing client 

base.

AFC operational risk procedures comprises of: identification and assessment of key operational risks; 

establishment and monitoring of key risk indicators; and comprehensive reporting of operational risk to 

executive management and Board of Directors.  The primary responsibility for managing operational risks on 

a day-to-day basis, lies with the business and support functions.  Each business and support function has 

established processes and controls to address the operational risks inherent in their activities.

The Board Risk and Investment Committee has approved the Corporation's operational risk management 

framework, which is being implemented by the executive management, with the Executive Risk Management 

Committee providing oversight. The committee receives regular reporting of operational risk exposures and 

loss events and also reviews the results of the quarterly Risk and Control Self Assessments. The Chief Risk 

Officer and the Head of Operational Risk are responsible for the independence, objectivity and effectiveness 

of the Corporation's operational risk framework.  A database of operational risk events is maintained which 

indicates operational risk exposures.

3.5 Capital Management

The Corporation's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the 'equity' on the 

balance sheets, are:-

- to comply with the capital requirements set by the board of directors of the Corporation;

- to safeguard the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

- to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy is monitored regularly by the Corporation's management, employing techniques derived 

from the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee.
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The Corporation's Capital Adequacy Framework requires the business to maintain a ratio of total risk capital to 

the risk-weighted asset (the Basel ratio) at a minimum of 12%.

The Corporation's capital is managed by the Finance and Treasury Division and currently comprises 

Tier 1 capital as shown below:

Tier 1: Comprises share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained 

earnings.

The risk weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of risk weights classified according to the 

nature of (and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with) each asset and 

counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees.  A similar treatment is adopted for off-

balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.

The table below summarises the composition of capital and the ratios of the Corporation for the year ended 

31 December 2010.  The Corporation has no externally imposed capital requirements, but complied with its 

own internal rules during the year under review.

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Tier 1 capital

Share capital 1,089,319 1,089,319

Retained earnings 44,041 33,134

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital 1,133,360 1,122,453

Risk-weighted assets:

On-balance sheet 618,216 540,376

Off-balance sheet 47,489 30,504

Total risk-weighted assets 665,705 570,880

Basel ratio 170.2% 197%

3.6 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Effective 1 January 2009, the Corporation adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for the financial instruments that 

are measured in the balance sheet at fair value, this requires disclosures of fair value measurement by level of 

the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

� Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

� Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

� Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 

(level 3).
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The following table presents the Corporation's financial assets that are measured at fair value at 31 

December 2010.

31 December 2010

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Investment securities - 115,281 -

Total assets - 115,281 -

31 December 2009

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Investment securities - 90,313 -

Total assets - 90,313 -

3.7 Financial instruments by category

31 December 2010

Loans and Equity

Receivables Securities Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets as per balance sheet

Investment securities - 115,281 115,281

Trade and other receivables

excluding pre-payments and

investments awaiting capitalisation 100,529 - 100,529

Cash and cash equivalents 742,776 - 742,776

Balances with central and  

commercial banks 156,584 - 156,584

Total 999,889 115,281 1,115,170
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Loans and Equity

Receivables Securities Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

31 December 2009

Assets as per balance sheet

Equity securities - 90,313 90,313

Trade and other receivables

excluding pre-payments and

investments awaiting capitalisation 90,951 - 90,951

Cash and cash equivalents 441,801 - 441,801

Balances with central and

commercial banks 483,558 - 483,558

Total 1,016,310 90,313 1,106,623

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting 

policies

AFC's financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, 

estimates and management judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of preparation of the 

financial statements. 

The Corporation makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial year.  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances.

(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Corporation reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment on an ongoing basis.  In determining 

whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Corporation makes 

judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in 

the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an 

individual loan in that portfolio.  This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has 

been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic 

conditions that correlate with defaults on asset in the Corporation.  Management uses estimates based 

on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of 

impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows.  The methodology and 

assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly 

to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
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(b) Impairment of available for-sale equity investments

The Corporation determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been 

a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost.  This determination of what is significant 

or prolonged requires judgement.  In making this judgement, the Corporation evaluates among other 

factors, the normal volatility in share price.  In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is 

evidence of a deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, 

changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.

5. Business Units

AFC's` primary objective is to finance infrastructure projects in Africa.  The Corporation is organised into 

various Products and Sector Groups.

(a) Investment:

This service group offers financing, advisory and arranging services to infrastructure companies in 

Africa.  AFC prioritises project financing, taking an active role across the financial value chain to 

originate, structure and syndicate major projects.  Financial products offered by AFC include senior 

debt, equity and hybrid investment products such as quasi equity or subordinate debt.

(b) Origination and Coverage

The division has responsibility for customer relationship management, deal origination, 

development and structuring of projects by bringing skill-sets and parties together as well as 

developing projects from the idea-phase to a bankable phase drawing on sector and in house 

specialist capabilities. The division also provides technical and advisory services to the investment 

group and requisite industry segments in early stage project development, techno-economic 

analysis, feasibility studies and detailed engineering, environmental assessments, as well as 

performance enhancements of operating assets.

The Project Development unit of this division is the flagship differentiating platform which underpins 

AFC's strategy to play a leading role in addressing the continental Africa's infrastructure deficit.  It 

identifies and develops 'bankable' infrastructure projects from inception to financial close and in 

return earns developer management fees and provides a (captive) pipeline of viable projects in 

which AFC can invest.

(c) Treasury

The Treasury function manages the Corporation's capital, borrowings and other funds available to 

the Corporation for short term trading and liquidity management.
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The segment information provided to the Corporation's Board for their reportable segments for the year 

ended 31 December 2010:

Investment Treasury Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Interest Income 6,328 23,097 29,425

Fee and commission income 5,741 162 5,903

Provision for Risk Assets (6,967) - (6,967)

Administrative expenses (14,872) (2,582) (17,454)

Operating profit (9,770) 20,677 10,907

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

6. Interest income
Loans and advances

- To Banks 23,443 75,383

- Others 5,982 91

29,425 75,474

7. Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions 5,903 4,974

5,903 4,974

8. Exchange loss
Translation losses - (26,688)

9. Administrative expenses
Staff cost:

Wages and salaries 10,389 14,038

Administrative expenses:

- Rent, rates and utilities 926 703

- Insurance 62 71

- Advertising and promotion 666 348

- Auditor's remuneration 85 85

- Communication 780 481

- Travels 460 596

- Board activities 575 376

- Training 269 229

- Repairs and maintenance 66 78

- Other administrative expenses 1,650 1,864

- Depreciation (Note 18) 1,526 1,411

17,454 20,280
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2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

10. Impairment Charges

Equity investments 5,846 3,897

Project Development costs 869 868

Other assets 252 -

6,967 4,765

11. Taxation

Under the Headquarters Agreement between AFC and the Government of the Federal Republic of Nigeria 

signed in May 2007, AFC is exempted from tax on all its income arising from operations in Nigeria. This is 

provided for in Diplomatic Immunities and Privileges Order  and was published in  Federal Republic of Nigeria 

Official Gazette No. 23 dated 15 February 2010 vol 97 section 1 (4).

12. Earnings per share

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the 

Corporation by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Profit attributable to equity holders of the

Corporation 10,907 28,715

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in

issue (thousands) 1,089,319 1,089,319

Basic earnings per share (expressed in cents

per share) 1.00 2.64

Diluted

The diluted earnings is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares to assume 

conversion of all diluted potential ordinary shares.  (There were no potential diluted ordinary shares during the 

year).

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue (thousands) 1,089,319 1,089,319

Diluted earnings per share (expressed in

cents per share) 1.00 2.64
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13. Cash and balances with central and commercial banks

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Cash in hand 41 36

Balances with central bank 249 471,936

Balances with commercial banks 156,583 11,622

156,873 483,594

14. Loans and advances to banks
2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Placements with other banks 742,734 441,765

Commercial Paper Investments - 78,850

Advances under letters of credit 12,500 -

Interest receivable 1,447 10,273

756,681 530,888

All loans and advances to banks are current.

15. Loans and advances to other customers
2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Project finance loans 31,443 10,000

Advances under trade finance 62,112 -

Shareholders loans 6,872 -

Interest and Fees receivable 102 -

100,529 10,000

16. Investment securities
2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Equity security (unlisted) – at fair value 125,025 94,210

Allowance for impairment (9,744) (3,897)

115,281 90,313
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The movement in investment securities from the preceding financial year is as follows:

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year 90,313 2,486

Additions 30,815 91,724

Impairments (5,847) (3,897)

At end of the year 115,281 90,313

17. Other assets
2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Accounts receivable 836 2,185

Prepayments 3,124 4,241

Investments awaiting capitalisation 252 252

Impairment Charges (252) -

3,960 6,678

Current 835 2,101

Non-current 3,125 4,577

18. Property and equipment
Motor Leasehold Furniture

Vehicles improvement & equipment Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 31 December 2009

Cost 2,308 1,547 2,266 6,121

Accumulated depreciation (959) (601) (808) (2,368)

Net book amount 1,349 946 1,458 3,753

Year ended December 2010

Opening net book value 1,349 946 1,458 3,753

Additions 162 43 212 417

Disposal – cost (32) (25) (90) (147)

Disposals – accumulated depreciation 19 12 46 77

Depreciation charge (608) (375) (543) (1,526)

Closing net book amount 890 601 1,083 2,574

Included in Furniture and equipment are artworks totaling $130,317 that have not been depreciated. This is in 

line with the Corporation's accounting policy.
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19. Intangible assets
2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Project development costs 1,853 1,982

Software cost 551 834

Allowance for impairment (1,589) (868)

815 1,948

Project development costs are costs incurred to date on ongoing projects. The general economic conditions 

have resulted in delays and or work stoppage on some of the projects.  This has necessitated the Corporation 

to recognise impairment on some of these assets.

Software costs are costs incurred on the purchase and implementation of the Corporation's software.

The movement in intangible assets from the preceding financial year is as follows:

Project Software Total

Costs Costs Costs

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2009 1,506 560 2,066

Additions 476 447 923

Impairments (868) - (868)

Amortisation - (173) (173)

At 31 December 2009 1,114 834 1,948

Project Software Total

Costs Costs Costs

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2010 1,114 834 1,948

Additions 739 63 802

Amortisation - (346) (346)

Impairment (1,589) - (1,589)

At 31 December 2010 264 551 815
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20. Accrued expenses and other liabilities
2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Unearned commission 222 4

Accruals 1,237 4,661

Pension liabilities 1,130 -

Other liabilities 764 55

3,353 4,720

All liabilities above are current.

21. Contingent liabilities and commitments

A) Legal proceedings

As at 31 December 2010, there were no pending legal proceedings against the Corporation:

B) Capital commitments

Capital commitments as at 31 December 2010 relate to equity and financing commitments to third 

parties and are analysed as follows:

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Equity commitment 76,057 16,008

Debt commitment 65,012 45,000

141,069 61,008

22. Special purpose companies

The Corporation had in existence three incorporated special purpose companies namely AFC Asia Holdings - 

Hong Kong, AFC Infrastructure Limited -Seychelles and AFC Electric Limited - Seychelles. No business 

activities has been carried out by these entities. AFC Asia Holdings has been de-registered in the year under 

review. Management has also commenced the process of liquidating and winding up of AFC Infrastructure 

Limited and AFC Electric Limited. This is scheduled to be completed in 2011.
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23. Share capital
No. of shares Ordinary shares

In thousands US$'000

At 1 January 2009 1,089,319 1,089,319

At 31 December 2009 1,089,319 1,089,319

At 1 January 2010 1,089,319 1,089,319

At 31 December 2010 1,089,319 1,089,319

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2 billion with a par value of US$1.00 per share. On 1st 

December 2010, Ghana became the seventh Africa nation to join the Corporation. The Ghanaian Parliament 

has also approved a resolution to subscribe up to $50 million for the Corporation's shares.

24. Retained earnings
2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year 33,134 4,419

Retained earnings for the year 10,907 28,715

At end of the year 44,041 33,134

25. Dividend

Dividend policy states that dividend payment will commence in 2011.

Dividends are not accounted for until they have been ratified at the Annual General Meeting.

26. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with 

less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition.

2010 2009

US$'000 US$'000

Cash in hand and balances with 

commercial banks (Note 13) 156,624 11,658

Placements with other banks (Note 14) 742,734 441,765

At end of the year 899,358 453,423
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27. Related-party transactions

A number of transactions were entered into during the year with related parties in the normal course of 

business. These transactions were mainly placements and other banking relationships with Nigerian banks 

and a credit facility to a company, which are all shareholders of the Corporation.  The volumes of related party 

transactions, outstanding balances at year end, and related expense and income for the year are as follows:

a) Loans and advances to related parties Banks and other shareholders

US$'000

Loans outstanding at 31 December 346,354

Interest income earned 20,493

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties 

b) Key management compensation

US$'000

Salaries and other short-term benefits 2,562

28. Events after the statement of financial position date

There were no events after the balance sheet date which impacted on these financial statements.
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